www.vbripress.com, www.amlett.com, DOI: <u>10.5185/amlett.2011.indias214</u>

Published online by the VBRI press in 2011

Advances in multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles

Prashant K. Sharma^{*}, Ranu K. Dutta, Avinash C. Pandey^{*}

Nanotechnology Application Centre, University of Allahabad, Allahabad 211002, India

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel: (+91) 532 2460675; Fax: (+91) 532 2460675; E-mail: prashantnac@gmail.com, avinashcpandey@rediffmail.com

Received: 25 May 2011, Revised: 30 July 2011 and Accepted: 03 August 2011

ABSTRACT

Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles have emerged as one of the important futuristic material for variety of applications starting from data storage, security/sensors to biomedical applications. The application of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles in biological organisms has fashioned noteworthy advances in research, diagnosis and therapy of various diseases. The multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles, capable of theragnosis, drug delivery and monitoring of therapeutic response, are expected to play a significant role in the emergence of the era of personalized medicine with much of research efforts devoted toward that goal. The present review recapitulates the development of state-of-the-art multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles and the foremost applications of these multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles in magnetic targeting, drug delivery, separation, and contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging, hyperthermia and sensors. The biocompatibility requirements and functionalization approach for multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles used in these applications are also reviewed. Copyright © 2011 VBRI press.

Keywords: Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles; sensors; theragnostics; targeted drug delivery; nanomedicine; contrast agents; hyperthermia; magnetic separation.



Prashant K. Sharma completed his B.Sc. in 2004 and Masters in Physics in the year 2006 from University of Allahabad, India. Since May 2006, he is at the Nanotechnology Application Centre, University of Allahabad, India, as a D.Phil. student. Presently he is working as Research Scientist at Nanotechnology Application Centre, University of Allahabad, Allahabad, India.His area of research includes, identification and optimization of the synthesis methods for the highly efficient bare & doped nanophosphors with

and without capping and determination of the corresponding functional properties in view of efficient LEDs, Opto-electronic, PDP and biomedical applications. Mr Sharma has expertise of wide range of material characterization techniques, especially Microscopic and Spectroscopic techniques. During this period he has published more than 40 papers in the refereed international Journals and 8 Patents to his credit.



Ranu K Dutta completed her B.Sc. in 2005 and Masters in Biotechnology in the year 2007 from University of Allahabad, India. Since Oct 2007, she is at the Nanotechnology Application Centre, University of Allahabad, India, as a D.Phil. student. Presently she is working as Research Scientist at Nanotechnology Application Centre, University of Allahabad, India. Her area of research includes identification and optimization of the synthesis methods for the highly efficient bare & doped

nanophosphors with and without capping and determination of the corresponding functional properties in view of biomedical applications. During this period she has published more than 16 papers in the refereed international Journals and 6 Patents to her credit.



Avinash C Pandey holds four masters degrees namely M.Sc. (Physics, 1984), MBA (Marketing, 1993) and M.Sc. (Mathematics, 1996) from University of Allahabad, India and M. Tech.(Computer Science) from Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, India. He did his D. Phil. from University of Allahabad in the year 1995. He joined University of Allahabad in the Department of Physics as Assistant Professor and is now Professor and Head of Department of Atmospheric & Ocean

Studies. He is the Principal Investigator and co-ordinator of Nanotechnology Application Centre, K. Banerjee Centre of Atmospheric & Ocean Studies. He is also Principal Investigator in more than 20 externally funded research projects worth of multi crore at K. Banerjee Centre of Atmospheric & Ocean Studies, M. N. Saha Centre of Space Studies and Nanotechnology Application Centre. He has built up two district groups at University of Allahabad dealing with various aspects of synthesis and characterization of Nanomaterials for their applications in Solid State Lighting, Display Technology and Nano-medicine and Mathematical Modeling of Atmosphere and Ocean. In 2004, he established Nanotechnology Application Centre to develop application of nanophosphor and other nanomaterials in the field of lighting imaging and displays. His area of research includes ion beam techniques, Nanomaterial Synthesis and processing by ion beams and wet chemistry, bare & doped nanophosphors with and without capping and determination of the corresponding functional properties in view of efficient LEDs, Opto-electronic, PDP and biomedical applications.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Specific requirements for multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles
- 2.1. Biocompatibility
- 2.2. Functionalization/coating capabilities
- 2.3. *Clearance/retention time*
- 2.4. Fluids/suspension making capabilities
- 3. Promising multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles
- 3.1. Iron oxides
- 3.2. Transition metal (TM) ions doped inorganic QDs
- 3.3. Rare-earth (RE) ions doped inorganic QDs
- 3.4. Rare-earth oxides Gd_2O_3 and hydroxides $Gd_2(OH)_3$
- 3.5. Rare-earth sesquisulphides and mono sulphides
- 4. Functionalization of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles
- 5. Applications of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles
- 5.1. Targeted drug and gene delivery
- 5.2. Magnetic detection and separation
- 5.2.1. Simultaneous magnetic detection and separation of thiols and disulfides from sulphor containing compounds
- 5.2.2. Magnetic cell separation
- 5.3. Hyperthermia
- 5.4. Magnetic switches
- 5.5. Magnetic sensors
- 5.6. Contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

1. Introduction

Magnetism is an intrinsic facade of existence of living creatures, from iron in blood to the capability of magnetotactic bacteria, birds, honeybees and other creatures to navigate by the Earth's magnetic field. Iron plays a crucial part in numerous aspects of human neurophysiology. Body's natural iron is usually stored within ferritin, a 12nm hollow spherical shell that can hold up to 2,500 iron atoms in its each shell in the form of mineralized ferrihydrite. Anomalous amounts of iron possibly in form nanoscale associated with many are neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases [1]. The capability of magnet to act on an object at a distance makes them precious medicinal paraphernalia from long ago. The use of magnet in the removal of an iron splinter from an eye [2] was illustrated in 1624. Similarly other removal of safety pins, bullets and grenade splinters were demonstrated using magnets [3, 4]. Cattle's are fed magnets to prevent sharp metallic objects they eat from damaging the intestines. The development of stronger, tiny permanent magnets led to more delicate applications, such as temporarily fixing

prosthesis in dentistry, guiding catheters through the body and navigating within the brain [5, 6].

Due to their size compatibility with cells (10–100 μ m), viruses (20-450 nm), proteins (5-50 nm) and genes (2 nm wide by 10-100 nm long), nanoscale materials have extraordinary significance in diverse biomedical applications. Nanoparticles are sufficiently small to move inside the body without disrupting normal functions and can access spaces unapproachable by other pathological means. Cells retort to the topography of their surroundings on size scales as small as 5 nm - up to 1000 times smaller than their own size [7]. Changes in response to topography literally can induce growth or death. Nanostructured materials allow study of these critical processes on a singlecell level [8].

The development of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles significantly impacts the advancement of both therapeutic and diagnostic agents. At the intersection between treatment and diagnosis, interest has grown in combining both paradigms into clinically effective formulations. This concept, recently coined as theranostics, is highly relevant to agents that target molecular biomarkers of disease and is expected to contribute to personalized medicine. Theranostic nanomedicine takes advantage of the high capacity of nano-platforms to ferry cargo and loads onto them both imaging and therapeutic functions. Major classes of nanoparticles include, drug conjugates and complexes, dendrimers, vesicles, micelles, core-shell particles, microbubbles, and carbon nanotubes. The preponderance of these formulations has been described as carriers of either drugs or contrast agents. To monitor these formulations and their interactions with disease, a variety of contrast agents have been used, including optically active small molecules, metals and metal oxides, ultrasonic contrast agents, and radionuclides. The prospect to swiftly evaluate and regulate treatment to the requirements of an individual tenders latent reward that will stimulate the advancement of nanoparticle based multifunctional theranostic agents. Here, we review state-of-the-art multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles from a therapeutic and a diagnostic perspective and discuss challenges in bringing these fields together. The foremost applications of such multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles in magnetic targeting, drug delivery, magnetic separation, as contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging, hyperthermia and in recapitulated. biocompatibility sensors are The requirements and functionalization approach for multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles used in these applications are also reviewed.

2. Specific requirements for multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles

Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles have specific requirements for their use in biomedical applications to that of materials used for other applications. *In vivo* (in the body) applications require stringent biocompatibility, while *in vitro* (outside of the body) applications have less stringent requirements. The techniques involving living cells must consider the effect of the materials on the cells. In addition to biocompatibility, materials must be capable of being functionalized with one or more molecules, must

retain their magnetic properties for a reasonable period of time in aqueous media with varying pH, must not be cleared too quickly from the bloodstream, and must form stable, non-aggregating dispersions.

2.1. Biocompatibility

Cells can be killed by peripheral means or can be provoke to "commit suicide" via a prototype known as involuntary cell death or "*apoptosis*". Damage from external agents includes mechanical injuries and exposure to toxic chemicals (e.g. chemotherapy). Substances toxic to cells are called "*cytotoxic*" and different types of cells can have different responses to the same material. Thus before applying/testing these multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications one should check its biocompatibility.

2.2. Functionalization/coating capabilities

Coatings can improve colloidal stability, oxidation resistance, the functionalization ability, mechanical stability and biocompatibility. Unfortunately, coating with a biocompatible material does not necessarily render the nanoparticle biocompatible [9]. Polysaccharide coatings such as dextran, starch, and chitosan are biocompatible and offer a range of functionalization options [10-12], however, they can be structurally weak and can be dissolved by highly acidic environments. Silicon-based coatings are used to protect particles from lysomal enzymatic digestion, and improve mechanical properties and chemical stability [13-16]. Silica-coating can improve chemical stability, but a porous coating may allow the contents inside to be dissolved or oxidized [17]. Many polymers are biocompatible and may be used as coatings for metallic or ceramic particles, or can serve as hosts by either capturing nanoparticles inside a larger polymer particle or attaching nanoparticles to their surfaces. Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) and related polymers covalently bond to surfaces or are adsorbed on magnetic nanoparticles and can prolong the circulation time in the bloodstream [10, 11].

2.3. Clearance/retention time

Particles introduced into the bloodstream are covered rapidly by components of the circulation, such as plasma proteins, in a process called opsonization. Opsonization makes the particles recognizable to the body's major defense system, the reticuloendothelial system (RES). The RES comprises a diffuse system of phagocytic cells (which engulf inert material) that are primarily associated with the connective tissues in the liver, spleen, and lymph nodes. Macrophage (Kupffer) cells in the liver and macrophages of the spleen and circulation are important in removing particles identified by opsonization. A significant fraction of nanoparticles can be cleared from the circulation system in as little as 15 minutes [18, 19]. The clearance rate is dependent on size, charge, surface hydrophobicity and the number and nature of functional groups on the surface [18, **20**]. These variables are interdependent, making understanding the role of each one independently challenging. Some of these variables also may affect the magnetic properties. For example, smaller particles more

easily evade the RES; however, the smaller size usually results in a smaller moment. Anionic particles with negative surface charge have a high affinity for the cell membrane and are typically taken up by the endocytic process [21]. Cationic magnetite particles show significantly lower cellsurvival rates but their toxicity depends highly on the magnitude of the surface charge. More highly cationic particles tend to be more toxic [22]. Hydrophilic surfaces such as dextran, polyethylene glycol, polyethylene oxide, poloxamers, polysorbates and polyoxamines provide a dynamic "cloud" of hydrophilic and neutral chains at the particle surface that repel plasma proteins and prevent rapid removal of particles from circulation [23-25]. Related to clearance time is the manner in which the nanoparticles attach to cells. Nanoparticles can be internalized or remain adhered to the surface. The mechanism is determined by the surface charge, adhesion properties, and chemical functionality of the cells with respect to the nanoparticle.

2.4. Fluids/suspension making capabilities

The *in-vivo* application usually requires nanoparticle suspension in water or water-based fluid. *In-vitro* applications generally also need an aqueous solution. Magnetic nanoparticles must remain suspended in fluid (or be easily re-dispersed when needed) and should not form aggregates due to van-der Waals or magnetic interactions.

Magnetic particles in a solution experience two types of relaxation: Brownian relaxation, in which the whole particle rotates, and Néel relaxation, in which the moment rotates while the particle remains immobile. The Brownian relaxation time depends on the 'hydrodynamic diameter' of the suspended particle and it characterizes how a particle moves through the fluid in which it is suspended. This hydrodynamic diameter may be different than the actual particle size due to agglomeration, coating, or interactions between the fluid and the nanoparticle surface. The Brownian relaxation time can be changed by changing the viscosity of the fluid while the Néel relaxation is independent of the fluid. The relaxation rates also get affected by immobilization of nanoparticles.

3. Promising multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles

Diverse applications in data storage, security/sensors to biomedical applications led to noteworthy advances in development of variety of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles. The development of biocompatible nanoparticles for molecular imaging and targeted therapy is an area of considerable current interest [26-34]. The basic rationale is that nanometer-sized particles have functional and structural properties that are not available from either discrete molecules or bulk materials [26-28]. When conjugated with biomolecular affinity ligands, such as antibodies, peptides or small molecules, these nanoparticles can be used to target malignant tumors with high specificity [35-38]. Structurally, nanoparticles also have large surface areas for the attachment of multiple diagnostic (e.g., optical, radioisotopic, or magnetic) and therapeutic (e.g., anticancer) agents. Recent advances have led to the development of biodegradable nanostructures for drug delivery [**39-43**], iron oxide nanocrystals for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [**44**, **45**], luminescent quantum dots (QDs) for multiplexed molecular diagnosis and in vivo imaging [**46-50**], as well as nanoscale carriers for siRNA delivery [**51**, **52**]. Due to their novel optical and electronic properties, semiconductor QDs are being intensely studied as a new class of nanoparticle probe for molecular, cellular, and in vivo imaging [**35-49**]. Over the past decade, researchers have generated highly monodispersed QDs encapsulated in stable polymers with versatile surface chemistries. These nanocrystals are brightly fluorescent, enabling their use as imaging probes both in vitro and in vivo.

3.1. Iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs)

Iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs) are nanocrystals made from magnetite or hematite. Despite spin surface disorders and spin canting effect [53], IONPs typically possess substantial saturation magnetization (Ms) values at room temperature, especially for those made from pyrolysis protocols with good crystallinity. Unlike the bulk materials, IONPs less than 20 nm are superparamagnetic - a state where particles show zero magnetism in the absence of an external magnetic field, but can become magnetized when there is one. The underlying mechanism is that at such small scale, the thermal energy is sufficient to overcome the anisotropy energy of each small magnet (nanoparticle), and this leads to random fluctuation of the magnetizations that, macroscopically, result in zero net coercivity and magnetic moment [54, 55]. The superior magnetic properties of IONPs, along with their inherent biocompatibility and inexpensiveness, have made IONPs a material of choice in many bio-applications, such as contrast probes for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [56-61]. The high magnetic moments of IONPs make them effective in reducing T2 relaxation time, leading to signal attenuation on a T2 or T2*-weighted map. When the particles are engineered with targeting specificity, such signal alterations can be harnessed to report abnormal biological activity.



Fig. 1. TEM micrographs of iron oxide NPs with diameters of (a) 6 nm, (b) 7 nm, (c) 8 nm, (d) 9 nm, (e) 10 nm, (f) 11 nm, (g) 12 nm, (h) 13 nm. The organic phase high-temperature synthetic route enables precise control of NP size. Figure adapted from "Park J, Lee E, Hwang NM, Kang MS, Kim SC, et al. One-nanometer-scale size-controlled synthesis of monodisperse magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles, Angew Chem Int Ed 2005, 44, 2872–2877".

The synthesis of IONPs has been well documented. **Fig. 1** shows the TEM micrographs of iron oxide NPs with diameters of (a) 6 nm, (b) 7 nm, (c) 8 nm, (d) 9 nm, (e) 10 nm, (f) 11 nm, (g) 12 nm, (h) 13 nm [62]. The organic phase high-temperature synthetic route enables precise control of NP size. Traditionally, IONPs are made in aqueous solution by co-precipitating Fe (II) and Fe (III) precursors [58, 63, 64]. In order to confer colloidal suspendability to the particles, additives, typically hydrophilic polymers are added during the particle formation process, which passivate the nanocrystal surface and protect against particle aggregation. A number of ligands including polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), dendrimer, polyaniline and dextran have been utilized for such purposes [58, 65, 66], with dextran and its derivatives being the most studied. As a matter of fact, several dextran–IONP formulas have entered or already passed clinical trials as MRI contrast agents.

3.2. Transition metal (TM) ions doped inorganic QDs

Many workers have shown that inorganic quantum dots (QDs) of like ZnO, ZnS, CdS, CdSe, TiO₂ etc could efficiently work as multifunctional nanoparticles when doped with different transition metals (TM) [67-72]. The TM incorporation in these systems led to origin of strong magnetism, which could be utilized for diverse applications. For an example, Dutta, Sharma and Pandey [72] have developed the "Luminomagnetic Nanocarriers" (luminescent and magnetic, simultaneously) of ZnO:Fe nanocrystals by a simple protocol and modified the surface of this "Luminomagnetic Nanocarriers" by the ligand "Luminomagnetic folate. This functionalized Nanocarriers" system is a bioconjugation approach which combines the specificity of folate receptors on cancer cells with the excellent optical and magnetic properties of the nanoparticles so as to develop biocompatible molecular imaging agents, drug delivery systems and hyperthermia agents.



Fig. 2. Room temperature M-H loop of synthesized ZnO:Fe nanoparticles. Figure adapted from "Ranu K. Dutta, Prashant K. Sharma and Avinash C. Pandey, Design and surface modification of potential luminomagnetic nanocarriers for biomedical applications, J. Nanopart. Res., 2010, 12, 1211-1219".

The vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM) studies, **Fig. 2**, showed clear hysteresis loops having coercivity 5.1 mT with corresponding magnetization of remanence 7.6×10^{-3} emu/g, indicating strong magnetic character of the samples. The photoluminescence spectrum of these nanoparticles is shown in **Fig. 3**. X-ray diffraction (XRD) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) measurements show that these nanoparticles are spherical with 6-9 nm size and hence are quite appropriate for *in vivo* applications as well. The immobilization of folic acid was confirmed by fourier transform infrared (FTIR) analysis.



Fig. 3. Photoluminescence spectra of ZnO:Fe nanoparticles. Inset shows the liquid samples in white light (1) and UV lamp (2). Figure adapted from "Ranu K. Dutta, Prashant K. Sharma and Avinash C. Pandey, Design and surface modification of potential luminomagnetic nanocarriers for biomedical applications, J. Nanopart. Res., 2010, 12, 1211-1219".

The enhanced magnetic moment and magnetic anisotropy render them utilizable for several biological applications. These, along with their capability of being manipulated under an external magnetic field, provide controllable means for magnetically tagging of all biomolecules, leading to highly efficient bio-separation/biodelivery, highly sensitive bio-labeling and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with enhanced contrast. They can be used as a delivery vector of external genetic material and enhance efficiency of transfection or transformation making them the most feasible candidates for targeted drug delivery systems and seizes great potential in bio-medical applications. making these "Luminomagnetic Nanocarriers" one of the most feasible candidates for folate receptor mediated biomedical applications.

3.3. Rare-earth ion doped inorganic QDs

Stable colloids of magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) in physiological medium, also known as biocompatible magnetic fluids (BMFs), have been used as potential candidate for variety of applications starting from data storage, security/sensors to diagnosis and therapy in clinical, biomedical, and biotechnological applications. The main emphases of these works were on cancer therapy and early detection [73-75]. Small changes in the band structure of a solid, originating from nanoscale size, are expected to have dramatic effects on the luminescent and magnetic properties, simultaneously. These small nanoparticles, also known as quantum dots (QDs), represent a new form of highly fluorescent agents that can expand the range of possible fluorescent studies [76, 77]. Rare-earth (RE) ions doped inorganic QDs are one of the most promising materials for a variety of applications such as in solid-state lasers, security, sensors, lighting, displays and biolabels [78]. QDs allow multiplexed detection, are resistant to photo-bleaching, and can be tracked over extended periods of time [79]. QDs can also be engineered to attach the biological molecules and have great potential for detecting and characterizing certain diseases, such as cancer, at the single cell or tissue level [80, 81].

3.4. Rare-earth oxides Gd_2O_3 and hydroxides $Gd_2(OH)_3$

Recently, nanoparticles made of RE oxides have been investigated as emerging materials for fluorescent labeling [82-84] due to their large stokes shift, sharp emission spectra, long lifetime and flexibility of excitation wavelengths. As RE oxides are used as commercial phosphors, it can be predicted that biological labels based on these materials will have better photo-stability than the commercially available polystyrene nanoparticles doped with lanthanide chelates. On the other hand, the magnetic properties of rare earths QDs are very sensitive to the structure and filling of the conduction bands because these originate almost entirely from their incomplete 4f shells. In the same pursuit several nanoparticles viz Gd₂O₃, GdPO₄, GdF₃ etc are extensively synthesized and studied by various research groups. Among these nanoparticles, because of its high relaxivities at nanometric scale, particularly Gd₂O₃ nanoparticles have been synthesized by numerous approaches and studied thoroughly. R. K. Dutta, P. K. Sharma and A. C. Pandey [85], have engineering the superparamagnetic Gd_2O_3 :Eu³⁺, Fig. 4, nanoparticles and called them "Eurogadofluoroprobes (EGFP)" and evaluated their biocompatibility through blood platelet aggregation studies.

 Gd_2O_3 nanoparticles are reported as potential contrast agents for MRI because they accelerate the *T*1 and *T*2 relaxation processes of water protons within their surroundings and have proven to show positive contrast effect *T*1-weighted imaging [**86**]. Furthermore, since Gd^{3+} is a known contrast agent for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), $Gd_2O_3:Eu^{3+}$ nanoparticles may function as both fluorescence and MRI labels [**87**]. Because of a large number of unpaired electrons in the gadolinium ion, complex species of Gd^{3+} ion have been commonly used as an MRI contrast agent for positive intensity images. They displayed the potential applications combining with fluorescence to achieve multi-imaging *in vivo* [**88**].

On the other hand the initial precursor/intermittent product of Gd_2O_3 , $Gd(OH)_3$ of various shapes (nanotubes, nanorods, nanowires and nanobundles) is synthesized [**89**, **90**]. In one such synthesis *Parashar* and *Pandey et al* have developed the $Gd(OH)_3$ nanosheets [**91**] as shown in **Fig. 5**.

3.5. Rare-earth sesquisulphides and monosulphides

From the past three decades, rare-earth sesquisulphides, Ln_2S_3 in the series of Ln = La - Dy have emerged as an attractive class of magnetic materials. Among these material systems, GdS, a model example of a Heisenberg system is antiferromagnetic (Neel temperature about 50 K) with the NaCl structure, an increase of sulfur leads to ferromagnetic ordering and transition to the Th_3P_4 structure for Gd_3S_4 and Gd_2S_3 . Whereas excess Gd leads to an antiferromagnet–ferromagnet transition adjunct with a semiconductor–metal transition. The magnetic properties of α –Gd₂S₃ have captured the interest of several research groups in past [**92-96**].



Fig. 4. (a) X-ray diffraction spectra and (b) TEM image of $Gd_2O_3:Eu^{3+}$ nanoparticles. The XRD spectra showed crystalline nature having cubic structure of Gd_2O_3 having space group 12₁3(199). Figure adapted from "R. K. Dutta, P. K. Sharma and A. C. Pandey, Engineering of superparamagnetic eurogadofluoroprobes (EGFP) and their biocompatibility evaluation through platelet aggregation studies, article to be published, 2011".

This compound has an orthorhombic structure (Pnma) wherein two types of cation polyhedra which are linked to form a three dimensional (3D) structure [**97-99**]. There are five structure types for Ln₂S₃ (Ln ¹/₄ lanthanides), two of which are known for Gd₂S₃: α -Gd₂S₃ and γ - Gd₂S₃. The latter has a Th₃P₄-type structure (I4₃d) where 1/9th of the sites of the metal sub lattice are vacant [**100**, **101**]. Until recently, interest in the magnetic and electrical properties at low temperatures has focused on the γ -type structure. In a very recent work, published in *Appl. Phys. Letts.* [**102**], *Dutta, Sharma* and *Pandey* have reported the first ever room temperature synthesis of ultra small multifunctional magnetic nanoparticle of Gd₂S₃. These nanoparticles show

orthorhombic (P_{nma}) crystal symmetry with excellent magnetic and luminescent characters, simultaneously. **Fig. 6** shows the X-ray diffraction (XRD) spectra of Gd_2S_3 :Eu³⁺ nanoparticles. Inset shows the high resolution transmission electron microscopic (HRTEM) image.



Fig. 5. (a) XRD patterns of the Gd(OH)₃ nanosheets. The standard data for Gd(OH)₃ (JCPDS No. 83-2037) is also presented in the figure (red) for comparison. b) Selected area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern of Gd(OH)₃ nanosheets. Low (c) and high (d) magnification of TEM images of Gd(OH)₃ nanosheets. Figure adapted from "V. Parashar and A. C. Pandey, Synchronized detection and removal of thiols using a Gd(OH)₃ nanosheet-sodium pentacyanonitrosylferrate (II) complex, Anal. Methods, 2010, 2, 1227–1229".



Fig. 6. X-ray diffraction (XRD) spectra of $Gd_2S_3:Eu^{3+}$ nanoparticles. Inset shows the high resolution transmission electron microscopic (HRTEM) image. Figure adapted from "Ranu K Dutta, Prashant K Sharma and Avinash C Pandey, DNA base (cytosine) modified/capped ultrasmall $Gd_2S_3:Eu^{3+}$ gadofluoroprobes for platelet isolation, App. Phys. Lett. 2010, 97, 253702."

Recently *Pandey and coworkers* [103] had described a method for the synthesis of cubic GdS nanoparticles at low temperature. The nanoparticles were made in solution using the ionic starting materials $GdCl_3$ and Na_2S in the presence

of dextrose. In this method reaction is carried out in ethanol which acts as a mild fuel which stimulates the reaction with sufficient activation energy at lower temperature. **Fig. 7** (a) TEM images showing crystalline GdS NPs obtained with dextrose, (b) histogram of nanoparticle size distribution, (c) selected area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern of cubic GdS NPs, (d) XRD pattern of as-prepared GdS nanoparticles.



Fig. 7. (a) TEM images showing crystalline GdS NPs obtained with dextrose, (b) histogram of nanoparticle size distribution, (c) selected area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern of cubic GdS NPs, (d) XRD pattern of as-prepared GdS nanoparticles. Peaks in red represent GdS (cubic, JCPDS Card 26-1423). Figure adapted from "V. Parashar, S. K. Pandey and A. C. Pandey, Low-temperature synthesis of quantum size gadolinium monosulfide (GdS) nanoparticles and their pathogen capture efficiency, Chem. Commun., 2010, 46, 3143–3145".

4. Functionalization of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles

The primary shortcoming of most chemotherapeutic agents is their relative non-specificity and thus potential side effects to healthy tissues. To overcome this problem, Magnetic nanoparticles functionalized with the drug can serve as potential drug carriers in a new drug delivery strategy, based on the application of external magnetic fields. Current drawbacks associated with anticancer drugs are accumulation, non specificity, limited stability in vivo and rapid clearance from the body due to short half lives. Targeted delivery of therapeutics possesses the potential to localize therapeutic agents to specific tissue as a mechanism to enhance treatment efficacy and mitigate side effects. Therefore, ligand specific targeting using molecules like folate [104-106], thiamine [107], transferin [108], antibodies [109], peptides [110], oligonucleotides [111] are being investigated. Nanoparticles have also been capped with various biocompatible polymers such as PVA, dextran, silica [112] and inorganic capping agents like biotin [76], citric acid [113], avidin, carbodiimide, SiO₂ [114], chitosan- PEG [115]. These molecules then act as attachment points for the coupling of cytotoxic drugs or target antibodies.

By tagging folic acid with these luinomagnets, tumors and other lesions can be detected at the cellular and molecular level [116, 117]. Folate receptors are upregulated on a variety of human cancers, including cancers of the breast, ovaries, endometrium, renal cell carcinoma, lungs, kidneys, colon, brain metastases, colorectal and neuroendocrine carcinoma [118-121] due to their enhanced mitosis rates. This over-expression of folate receptors (FR) on cancer tissues have been identified as tumor markers and can be exploited to target folate-linked imaging and therapeutic agents specifically to FR-expressing tumors, thereby avoiding uptake by most healthy tissues that express few, if any, FR. The expression of FR increases with the advancement in the stage of cancer [122]. Folic acid is a short chain, non immunogenic and high affinity ligand. The FR is a glycosyl phosphotidylinositol linked membrane glycoprotein with an apparent mol wt of 38-40 KDa. Folate is an essential precursor for the synthesis of nucleic acid and some amino acids. It is not produced endogenously by mammalian cells and requires internalization by cells via receptor mediated endocytosis or carrier based uptake mechanism. Conjugation of folate to anticancer drugs, liposomes and micelles facilitated their cellular uptake [123]. Besides this, FR is expressed on the basolateral surface (blood side) of transformed cells as compared to the apical surface expression in normal cells [124]. This property complements the cancer cell specificity of folic acid as a targeting agent when delivered through the blood. These along with their capability of being manipulated by an external magnetic field leads to highly sensitive agents for biolabelling and magnetic resonance imaging with enhanced contrast. Besides, these can be designed to be used as delivery vector of external genetic material and enhance efficiency of transfection and transformation.

One such example for the functionalization of nanoparticles with folic acid is depicted in **Fig. 8**.





In this particular scheme, nanoparticles were conjugated with folic acid by a chemical method. First, the nanoparticles were surface modified with AEAPS (3 amino ethyl trimethoxy silane) to form particles with -NH₂ groups, which were subsequently conjugated with folic acid through amidation between NH₂ groups on nanoparticle surface and γ -carboxylic acid group (-COOH) of γ - {N-{2-[2-(2-aminoethoxy) ethoxy] ethyl} folic acid. 0.2 g of nanoparticle was taken and dissolved in 50 ml toluene and sonicated for 30 minutes. To this solution, 10 ml of AEAPS was added. The suspension was stirred for 2 hours and the particles were recovered and washed with millipore water. 0.1 g of folic acid was taken and dissolved in 10 ml aqueous solution of N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) (358 mmol, 41 mg) and 18 mg of 1-ethyl-3-[3-(dimethylamino)propyl] carbodiimide (EDC) and kept in the dark for 2 hours. The particles were then immersed in this mixture and left overnight for proper reaction to occur.

Shivang R. Dave and Xiaohu Gao [**125**] have shown a general functionalization scheme of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles by inorganic, organic and ligands, **Fig. 9**.

5. Applications of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles

Chemotherapy, a common treatment of cancer, is nonselective and causes significant negative side effects. Chemotherapy dosages are calculated primarily by the individual tolerance levels of a particular patient, which means that physically weaker patients are not able to receive adequate doses for successful treatment. Targeting the drugs and preventing release until they reach the tumor decreases the damage to normal cells and increases the dosage at the tumor. The first evidence for the utility of nanospheres in cancer treatment was demonstrated in the early 1980s. Since then the research of nanoparticle based chemotherapy has exploded. Till few years back, the majority of magnetic nanoparticles used for drug delivery are based on iron-oxide or its derivative compounds. Although recently, a phase II/III liver-cancer trial was suspended in U.S., still lots of other studies are going on at

rapid speed suggesting a very bright future for the nanoparticle based chemotherapic treatment of cancer.



Fig. 9. General surface modification schemes for magnetic NPs. (a) Inorganic surface coating with tetraethoxysilane produces an amorphous silica shell. Polymer coating encapsulates the magnetic NP and native surface ligands (b), whereas the ligand exchange is to replace native surface ligands (c). These routes present polar or charged functional groups onto the outer surface of the NP for water solubility. Shivang R. Dave and Xiaohu Gao, Monodisperse magnetic nanoparticles for biodetection, imaging, and drug delivery: a versatile and evolving technology, WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Volume 1, November/December 2009, page 583.

5.1. Targeted drug and gene delivery

Some materials are taken up easily by all types of cells, while others are preferentially taken up by specific types of cells. Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles can be localized by physical, chemical, and/or magnetic targeting. Physical or passive targeting uses surface features of nanoparticles, such as hydrophobicity, charge or pH, to induce reactions that cause the nanoparticles to stick to or enter the cells. This mechanism is highly non-specific. *Chemical targeting* uses functionalization of particles to increase the specificity of binding. Functionalization is the physical or chemical association of ligands-targeting agents, therapeutics, surfactants, etc., with a magnetic nanoparticle. Functional groups may be incorporated using covalent or non-covalent bonding, and/or physical adsorption. Binding to a receptor of interest is called specific binding, while binding to that and other sites is called non-specific binding. Antibodies, for example, specifically bind to their antigen, providing an effective means of tagging. Molecules used for targeting include proteins, oligonucleotides, antibodies and their fragments, lectins, hormones, charged molecules, nucleic acids, peptides, and receptor ligands. Magnetic targeting is used when a therapy has limited ability to be chemically targeted to specific types of cells or tissues due to high non specific binding.

Magnetic nanoparticles functionalized with the drug can serve as potential drug carriers in a new drug delivery strategy, based on the application of external magnetic fields. Schematic of one such multifunctional nanoparticle for drug delivery is shown in **Fig. 10**.



Fig. 10. Multifunctional nanoparticles for drug delivery. Multifunctional nanocarriers can combine a specific targeting agent (usually an antibody or peptide) with nanoparticles for imaging (such as quantum dots or magnetic nanoparticles), a cell-penetrating agent (e.g. the polyArg peptide TAT), a stimulus-sensitive element for drug release, a stabilising polymer to ensure biocompatibility (polyethylene glycol most frequently) and the therapeutic compound. Development of novel strategies for controlled released of drugs will provide nanoparticles with the capability to deliver two or more therapeutic agents.

The principle of drug delivery by nanomagnets is based on the use of both constant and high-frequency oscillating magnetic fields. Since these particles are magnetic in nature, they can be targeted to specific areas (for e.g. cancer tissues) by a constant external magnetic field. Releasing mechanism is accomplished by thermal excitations of these conjugated magnetic nanoparticles induced by an external high-oscillating magnetic field. Magnetic-field-induced excitations produce heat that increases the temperature of nanomagnets. Such specific heating represents an eliciting mechanism for the controlled release of conjugated drug from the nanomagnets when they are heated to adequately high temperatures (around 40° C). This specific heating can be achieved by calculating hysteresis loss (heat loss) from the magnetic loop.

The functionalized magnetic nanoparticle experiences a force which is produced by the magnetic field gradient and can be expressed as:

$$F_{\rm m} = V\chi\nabla\frac{B^2}{2\mu_0} = V\chi\nabla(\frac{1}{2}\overline{B}.\overline{H})$$
 (1)

For this reason, high-gradient, magnetic fields are commonly used for both magnetic nanoparticle-based drug delivery as well as for magnetofection applications. This equation also indicates that the variable parameters that can be used to increase the force (and, *in vivo*, the likelihood of capture) on the magnetic particle carrying the therapeutic drug or a gene of interest, are the particle volume, magnetic field strength, magnetic field gradient and the magnetic susceptibility of the particles. Earlier theoretical work done by researchers like Voltairas [**126**] indicated that for the most of the magnetic carriers, the magnetic flux density (field strength) at the target site must be of the order of 200 – 700 millitesla (mT) in order to efficiently attract particles flowing in the blood vessels. In addition to this, for targeted drug delivery the nanoparticles must have dimensions around 3-10 nm.

The ligand molecules along with the magnetic field help to drag the drug conjugated multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles to the target site when a high gradient magnetic field is applied outside the body near the tumor. A magnet is focused outside the body so that its magnetic field gradient attracts the magnetic nanoparticles to the target site. Once the complex reaches the desired location, the drug can be released by the way of self specific heating of magnetic nanoparticles as discussed earlier. The enlarged schematic diagram of the mechanism of the receptor mediated endocytosis of folic acid and drug conjugated multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles in cancer cell is depicted in **Fig. 11**.



Fig. 11. Schematic representation of folate conjugated luminomagnetic nanocarriers mediated targeted drug delivery along with receptor mediated endocytosis of folic acid and drug conjugated luminomagnetic nanocarriers in cancer cells. Figure adapted from "Ranu K. Dutta, Prashant K. Sharma and Avinash C. Pandey, Design and surface modification of potential luminomagnetic nanocarriers for biomedical applications, J. Nanopart. Res., 2010, 12, 1211-1219".

Although seemingly straightforward, there are many variables that complicate the execution of this technique. Parameters such as the physicochemical properties of the drug-loaded magnetic nanoparticles, field strength and geometry, depth of the target tissue, rate of blood flow, and vascular supply, all play a role in determining the effectiveness of this method of drug delivery.

5.2. Magnetic detection and separation

The detection of specific molecules is critical from the security, sensing, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of disease point of view. The development of fast, handheld analysis units capable of detecting multiple species is made more urgent by fears of biological and chemical terrorism. Magnetic separation has been applied to everything from detecting and separating different hazardous elements like sulphor, ammonia, different nitrates from chemicals and different warfare agents, tin from stainless steel at recycling centers to separating pure natural diamonds from diamonds with inclusions of other (magnetic) minerals.

Some cells are naturally magnetic, such cells could be separated utilizing their own intrinsic magnetism. In some other cases, the cells were attached to a multifunctional magnetic nanoparticle for separation. Magnetic cell separation allows separation of target cells directly from blood, bone marrow and other fluids in short times due to the fast reaction kinetics. Magnetic cell sorting first was proposed using surface markers for cell receptors. The limiting factor for magnetic separation is identifying a linking molecule with high specificity for the desired cell. Applications include purging malignant cells from autologous stem cell products, water purification, minimizing and recycling nuclear waste and recovering heavy metals. Blood purification using magnetic carriers has been used to treat autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, including myasthenia gravis, lupus and Guillain-Barré syndrome. T4 and T8 cells in HIV-infected patients have been isolated using magnetic separation.

5.2.1. Simultaneous magnetic detection and separation of thiols and disulfides from sulphor containing compounds

A novel procedure for visible detection and separation of thiols and disulfides was described by Parashar and Pandey. The method uses a Gd(OH)₃ nanosheets-sodium pentacyanonitrosylferrate (II) paramagnetic complex which produce an intermediate chromophore when coupled with a sulfur containing analyte, which is detectable with the naked eye and simultaneously can be removed by applying an external magnetic field (Fig. 12). Fig. 12b shows the color appearance with the [Gd(OH)₃/SPII] nanosheets complex on amicrotiter plate with various thiols at a concentration of 200 mM. Water was used as a negative control. Interestingly, with this system different sulfur analytes develop different colors. The developed color is stable for more than 24 h at room temperature, and the concentration dependent color intensity is reproducible over a wide range of concentrations.

5.2.2. Magnetic cell separation

Magnetic separation consists of three parts: tagging or labeling the desired cells with a magnetic marker as described earlier, separating magnetically labeled cells from unlabeled cells, and measuring the magnetic properties to quantify the number of cells present. Separation may be done in batch or flow configurations, depending on the specific application. In batch processing, the magnetic beads and the analyte material are mixed. The reaction kinetics determines the amount of time necessary to wait for a sufficient amount of binding to occur. A magnet is used to separate the magnetically targeted cells from the non-targeted cells, as shown in Fig. 13. The most commonly used (and commercially available) materials for cell separations are micron-sized polymer beads into which a magnetic material, usually maghemite, has been embedded.

Fluid-flow techniques allow continuous processing and are advancing rapidly due to micro-fabrication capabilities. A permanent magnet can be used to either deflect or collect magnetically labeled particles. In a similar intresting demonstration *Dutta, Sharma* and *Pandey* have proposed the easy separation and simultaneous visualization of blood platelets from the mice-blood platelet rich plasma (PRP), **Fig. 14**, [**109**]. Such technique offers advantages of simplicity of operation, low cost, specificity, and sensitivity afforded by the use of immunospecific reagents. The magnetic microbeads coupled with the specific antibodies can effectively separate cells such as leukemic cells from urine.



Fig. 12. (a) Synchronized detection and removal of sulfur analyte using the $[Gd(OH)_3/SPII]$ nanosheets complex. b) Visual detection of various sulfur analytes (1 mM) with the $[Gd(OH)_3/SPII]$ nanosheets complex. c) Glutathione (1 mM) was detected by the nanosheets complex and simultaneously attracted towards the magnetic poles when a permanent magnet was applied externally. Figure adapted from "V. Parashar and A. C. Pandey, Synchronized detection and removal of thiols using a Gd(OH)₃ nanosheet-sodium pentacyanonitrosylferrate (II) complex, Anal. Methods, 2010, 2, 1227–1229".



Fig. 13. A schematic illustration of the magnetic cell separation process.

5.3. Hyperthermia

The therapeutic power of heat has been used to alleviate a variety of diseases. This heat treatment is recognized as new and promising form of cancer rehabilitation out-of-theway from surgery, chemo therapy, and irradiation. It is well established that cancer growth stops at temperatures higher than about 42°C [Wilfried et al., 1998], while normal cells can tolerate even higher temperatures. Hyperthermia is heating of certain organs or tissues to temperatures between 41°C and 48°C as a treatment of cancer. Hyperthermia induces almost reversible damage to cells and tissues, however, it can enhance radiation and chemotherapy injury of tumor cells.



Fig. 14. Schematic representation of (a) platelets in PRP, (b) added cytosine capped nanoparticles, (c) cytosine capped nanoparticles adhered on the surface of platelets, (d) aggregation of platelets mediated by cytosine capped nanoparticles, (e) cytosine capped nanoparticles being attracted to the wall by using an external magnet, and (f) isolation of aggregated platelets using magnet. Figure adapted from "Ranu K Dutta, Prashant K Sharma and Avinash C Pandey, DNA base (cytosine) modified/capped ultrasmall Gd₂S₃:Eu³⁺ gadofluoroprobes for platelet isolation, App. Phys. Lett. 2010, 97, 253702."

Hyperthermia and thermal ablation have been accomplished using capacitive or inductive coupling of radio frequency (RF) fields (10–100 MHz), microwaves (> 300 MHz), ultrasound, lasers or external heat. The absorbed power per mass is called the specific absorption rate (SAR). SAR determines the heating ability of magnetic materials in the presence of an AC magnetic field and can be defined as the amount of heat generated per unit gram of magnetic material per unit time. The SAR (W g⁻¹) value was calculated by using the formula:

$$SAR = C \frac{dT}{dt} \frac{m_s}{m_m}$$
 ------(2)

where, $C = \text{specific heat capacity of suspension} = 4.186 \text{ Jg}^{-1}$ °C⁻¹ (specific heat of water, in this case), (dT/dt) = slope of temperature versus time graph, ms = mass of the suspension, and mm = mass of the magnetic material in the suspension.

The coupling of an external RF magnetic field to magnetic particles in the body results transfer of energy to the tissue by:

- i. Eddy current heating,
- ii. Hysteretic heating: heat generated when a magnetic material is forced around part or all of the hysteresis loop,
- iii. Viscous heating: heat generated by the kinetic motion of a particle within a viscous fluid, and
- iv. Magnetic resonance. The loss power of the magnetic particles should be as high as possible so as to allow the lowest possible dose.

Modeling magnetic hyperthermia is difficult due to the complex magnetization reversal mechanisms found in nanoparticles. Optimization of nanoparticle properties is important to limit the amount of material that must be introduced. The SAR achievable for a given combination of field, frequency, and type of particle usually must be determined experimentally. SAR values range from a few W/g to a few hundred W/g. The SAR depends on many factors, including the effect of coating on surface spin dynamics, the effect of surface properties on Brownian relaxation, size, and crystallinity among other factors.

Magnetic nanoparticle hyperthermia has a potential advantage over radio- and chemo- therapies because there is no systemic buildup in organs, so larger doses are possible. The nanoparticles can be introduced into the body once, and then used for multiple treatments. Nanoparticles can be magnetically targeted, injected directly into the tumor in some cases, or injected into the vasculature supplying the tumor. The use of iron oxides for hyperthermia of tumors was first proposed by Gilchrist *et al.* [127]. The first clinical human trials using magnetic hyperthermia were reported by Lubbe, *et al.* [128-131] who used 100-nm starch-coated iron-oxide particles bound with epirubicin for treatment of advanced solid cancers.

Larger bones, such as the pelvis and skull shield tissues and produce inhomogeneous heating. Non-uniformity of tumors poses a complication, as large tumors heat at a greater rate than small tumors due to the poorer tissue cooling and differences in heat conduction in the necrotic regions of large tumors [**132-134**]. One approach to controlling temperature is to use materials with a Curie temperature between 42 and 50 °C, as these materials automatically "turn off" when the temperature becomes too high. Substituted ferrites such as ($Co_{1-x}Zn_x$)Fe₂O₄, manganates such as La_{1-x}Me_xMnO₃ [Me=Sr, Ba, Pb, Ag, Na] and substituted yttrium-iron garnet Y₃Fe_{5-x}Al_xO₁₂ are ideal candidates due to their stability against oxidation (relative to metals) and the ability to tune the Curie temperature by composition [**135, 136**].

5.4. Magnetic switches

Magnetic fields can be used to trigger the release of a drug vaguely. For instance, an applied ac field causes the magnetic particles to heat, which in turn opens the lipid layer, encapsulating magnetic nanoparticles and drugs, and drug [137, 138]. releases the Similarly, the thermoresponsive gels, which are chemically cross-linked polymer network characterized by pores, elasticity, and the ability to change volume when stimulated by temperature, can be used. Entrapping magnetic nanoparticles in the gel allows control of the pore size via the external ac magnetic field. Drug entrapped in the pores is released when the gel swells and the pores expand. Similarly, magnetically induced stress has been used to control drug release. Polymer spheres filled with magnetic nanoparticles and drug subjected to an oscillating magnetic field produced small stress-induced cracks in the polymer. The cracks allowed liquid to enter the spheres and carry out drug. Using magnetism as a "release-on-demand" mechanism could be useful for insulin-dependent diabetics [139, 140]. Innovent, Inc. has developed a magnetic capsule made of two or more parts that are held together magnetically. Demagnetizing the magnetic capsule by applying alternate pulses of opposite magnetic polarity allows the capsule to open. The resulting capsule parts are small enough for the

ADVANCED MATERIALS *Letters*

patient to eliminate. This capsule is small enough to be used for delivery of drugs to the gastrointestinal tract [141].

5.5. Magnetic sensors

Integrated structures utilizing nanolithography can perform sorting and quantitative analysis in a single device. Magnetic transducers have low interference, low background signal, do not require sample pre-treatment, and can be small enough to be portable. DNA is a single strand complementary to the probe DNA and is labeled (often with biotin). Magnetic microspheres functionalized with streptavidin (which attaches to biotin) are then introduced; the microspheres bind to the biotin, which is present only on the successfully trapped DNA. The signal measured by sensor can be used to quantify the amount of analyte present. The response to the sensor is determined by the in-plane component of the stray fields induced by the magnetized microspheres.



Fig. 15. Schematic illustration of the extraction and the amplification processes in the magnetic bead-based microfluidic system. Figure adapted from "Huanga, C.J., H.I. Linb, S.C. Shieshb, G.B. Leea. Integrated microfluidic system for rapid screening of CRP aptamers utilizing systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment (SELEX). Biosensors and Bioelectronics 2010, 25, 1761–1766".

Magnetoresistive techniques have an advantage over techniques that use, for example, MFM or AFM tips to manipulate magnetic beads attached to molecules, in that they are much faster and have the potential to detect more than one molecule at a time. Spin-valve and other magnetoresistive devices detect the stray field from a magnetic micro- or nanobead, as illustrated by **Fig. 15**. Similarly, a novel saccharides detection assay based on covalent immobilization of amino phenyl boronic acid (APBA) in thin films of carboxyl functionalized chitosan (HOOC-chitosan) containing <5 nm $Gd_2O_3:Eu^{3+}$ nanoparticles at a platinum disc electrode was developed by Tiwari *et al.* [**142**].

Lithographically fabricated microcircuits may be used to manipulate the magnetic particles. Detection limits in the 102 nM can be achieved, and detection of single particles is theoretically possible. Detection of multiple species on a single chip is possible by fixing a probe molecule (often DNA) to a polymer layer covering the sensor. The analyte



Fig. 16. Schematic illustration of electrodes fabrication and electrochemical saccharide(s) detection process. Figure adapted from "Ashutosh Tiwari et al., an ultra sensitive saccharides detection assay using carboxyl functionalized chitosan containing Gd_2O_3 :Eu³⁺ nanoparticles probe, Anal. Methods, 2011, 3, 217-226".

Superconducting Interference Device (SQUID) sensors are more sensitive than GMR devices, but require low temperatures and magnetic shielding. RF SQUIDS have been used to measure magnetic markers to which monoclonal antibodies have been attached. SQUID sensors also can be used to detect changes in relaxation due to binding or changes in local environment. Recently, *R. K. Dutta, P. K. Sharma* and *A. C. Pandey* have engineered the highly susceptible paramagnetic nanostructures of $Gd_2S_3:Eu^{3+}$ as potentially an efficient new material for room temperature gas sensing applications. Their preliminary result, **Fig. 17**, shows good sensitivity for ammonia gas at room temperature, speculating the possible application of this material in gas sensing.

5.6. Contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging

MRI is as a powerful imaging modality due to its noninvasive nature, high spatial resolution and tomographic capabilities. The applications of MRI have steadily increased over the past decade, offering the advantage of high spatial resolution of contrast differences between tissues. MRI is a diagnostic scanning modality based on principles of NMR. It measures the signal from the hydrogen nuclei of water, which is modified by the surrounding chemical environment. NMR spectroscopy measures the characteristics of any hydrogen nuclei depending on their position in the molecule. NMR gives information about chemical shifts and coupling constants, whereas MRI gives spatial distribution of the intensity of the water proton signal in the volume of the body. This signal intensity depends essentially on three factors:

- i. The density of proton spins in a given volume,
- ii. The longitudinal and transverse relaxation times T1 and T2 of these spins.
- iii. Using different RF pulse sequences, image intensity can be weighted with respect to T1 or T2.

It visualizes contrasts in images via monitoring the response of water protons to external magnetic field. MRI obtains real-time images of the internal anatomy and physiology of living organisms in a noninvasive manner. Furthermore, it is currently the most sensitive method to depict soft tissues. Therefore, it has been extensively used for imaging brain and central nervous systems, for assessing cardiac function, and for detecting abnormal tissues such as tumors. Now a days, MRI is one of the most powerful and central techniques in diagnostic medicine and biomedical research. The applications of MRI have steadily increased over the past decade, offering the advantage of high spatial resolution of contrast differences between tissues.



Fig. 17. Resistance (a) and sensitivity of $Gd_2S_3:Eu^{3+}$ magnetic nanoparticles as function of ammonia concentration. Figure adapted from "Ranu K. Dutta, Prashant K. Sharma and Avinash C. Pandey, Engineering of Highly Susceptible Paramagnetic Nanostructures of $Gd_2S_3:Eu^{3+}$: Potentially an Efficient Material for Room Temperature Gas Sensing Applications, Sensors & Transducers Journal, Vol. 122, Issue 11, November 2010, pp. 36-45".

MRIs make use of the unique property of atomic nuclei rotating in a strong magnetic field. These nuclei have a special "resonance" frequency that depends on the magnetic field. By absorbing radio waves of the same frequency, the nucleus' energy can be increased. Radio waves are reemitted by the nuclei as they return to the lower energy state. The time it takes for the radio wave to do this is known as the 'relaxation time', and the different relaxation times result in varying bright and dark spots on the image.

However, since there is little difference between normal and abnormal soft tissues in terms of relaxation time and hence the resulting contrast, additional supplements have been used for more accurate detection and diagnosis. The most effective supplement is a chemical compound known as a contrast agent that is introduced to a living body to enhance imaging quality. Moreover, the interrelation between the contrast agent and the biological system often reveals biological and functional information. Capping the nanoparticles with nonimmunogenic, nonantigenic and protein-resistant layers of a biocompatible material such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) could help in preventing aggregation, enhancing the blood retention, facilitating nanoparticle cell uptake and providing binding sites for targeting agents. The development of MRI has also concurrently led to the development of chemical contrastenhancement products called contrast agents (CAs). The lack of high contrast and targeted delivery has prevented precision diagnosis. In the same pursuit scientists have developed verity of contrast agents in recent times. The development of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles further spurred the discovery of contrast agents.

In comparison with conventional gadolinium chelates, nanoparticle-based contrast agents offer enhanced cellular internalization and slower clearance from the tumour site [143, 144]. For MRI purposes iron oxide cores are commonly used as so-called T2 contrast agents and can be divided into either super-paramagnetic iron oxides (SPIOs), with diameters of > 50 nm, or ultra small SPIOs (USPIOs) with diameters of < 50 nm [145]. Currently, there are several formulations for clinical applications such as bowel (lumiren and gastromark) and liver or spleen imaging (endoderm and feridex). As with all nanoparticles, the tissue distribution is heavily influenced by size, thus the larger SPIOs tend to rely on passive targeting, such as uptake by the cells of the RES, rather than direct labelling, and the USPIOs benefit from slower opsonization and RES clearance [146]. The next generation of active targeting contrast agent is currently being researched, which provide exciting new opportunities for imaging, diagnosis and treatment [147]. Monoclonal antibodies were the first targeting agents to exploit molecular recognition to deliver mNPs [148, 149]. For example, Suzuki et al developed an MRI contrast agent, which was prepared by covalently linking polyethylene glycolcoated magnetite to an antibody specific for a human glioma cell surface antigen [150]. However, one drawback of using monoclonal antibodies is their large size (~12 nm), which can cause poor diffusion through typical biological barriers. Following this, mNPs have been examined intensively as MRI agents to improve detection and diagnosis of solid tumors [151, 152]. More recent applications utilizing antibody directed targeting tend to focus on using shorter, smaller single chain fragments, which consist of antibody heavy- and light-chain variable domains connected with a flexible peptide linker [153]. The resulting fragment is smaller than 20% of an intact antibody, but maintains a high binding affinity and specificity [154]. The signal enhancement caused by conventional iron oxides, however, is still unsatisfactory compared with that obtained with other imaging modalities

such as fluorescence and PET. A further area of research is to thus develop magnetism-engineered iron oxide (MEIO) nanoparticles, which possess exceptionally high and tunable nanomagnetism [155]. A recent study by Lee et al demonstrated such engineered particles enhanced sensitivity for cancer cell detection and also made the in vivo imaging of small tumours possible [156]. There are reasons to expect that MRI will become much more sensitive in the next few years. As its sensitivity approaches and perhaps exceeds that of fluorochromes (fluorescent substances used to stain biological specimens), the need for nanoparticles in MRI molecular imaging might seem to fade away. However, there is a separate reason why nanoparticles will be required even in more sensitive versions of MRI, and this is theranostics. The payload of the nanoparticle can consist of drug molecules and of signal generating moieties. This combination allows the nanoparticle to be located within the living subject and at the same time to release drugs into a target site, enabling molecular imaging to be combined with therapy. This 'therapy' plus 'diagnostics' or 'theranostics' holds promise in future of monitoring the effectiveness of therapy simultaneously with delivering the therapy [157, 158]. For example C. Sun et al. [159] recently demonstrated the specific accumulation of CTX-targeted iron oxide nanoparticles in 9L glioma flank xenografts resulting in more thorough contrast enhancement of tumors in comparison to nontargeted control nanoparticles (Fig. 18).



Fig. 18. MRI anatomical image of a mouse in the (A) coronal plane with the dotted line displaying the approximate location of the axial cross sections displayed in (C) and (D). Anatomical image in the (B) sagittal plane displaying the location of the 9L xenograft tumor. Change in R2 relaxation values for the tumor regions (superimposed over anatomical MR images) for mouse receiving (C) non-targeting PEG-coated iron oxide nanoparticles and (D) CTX-targeted PEG-coated iron oxide nanoparticles 3 h post nanoparticle injection. Figure adapted from Small, Volume 4, Issue 3, Pages 372 – 379.

6. Conclusion

The present review summarize the development of state-ofthe-art multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles and their foremost applications in security/sensors, magnetic targeting, drug delivery, magnetic separation, as contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging, hyperthermia etc. The basic requirements and functionalization approach for multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles used in these applications are also reviewed. The detailed applications of multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles in biological organisms have been discussed in view of fashioned noteworthy advances in research, diagnosis and therapy of various diseases.

7. Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to Department of Science and Technology (DST), India for supporting "Nanotechnology Application Centre" under "Nano-Mission (grant number SR/NM/NS-87/2008)" scheme of project. The financial support from ITC-PAC, grant number FA5209-11-ITC-PAC (CSPO6N1EJEPC14), is also thankfully acknowledged.

8. Reference

- Hautot, D.; Pankhurst, Q.A.; Khan, N.; Dobson, J. Proc. Roy. Soc. B (London) 2003, 270, S62.
- DOI: <u>10.1098/rsbl.2003.0012</u>
- Andrä, W., Magnetism in Medicine: A Handbook, Eds. Andrä, W.; Nowak, H., Wiley, New York and Berlin, 1998, p. 425.
- Douglas, S. A., Mirza S., and Stafford F. W., Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhi. (2002), 62, 165.
- doi:10.1016/S0165-5876(01)00609-7

 4.
 Frei E. H., J. Appl. Phys. (1969), 40, 955.
- doi:10.1063/1.1657801
- Häfeli U., Schütt W., Teller J., and Zborowski M., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, (Plenum: New York, 1997), p. 1.
- Gillies G. T., Ritter R. C., Broaddus W. C., Grady M. S., Howard M. A., and McNeil R. G., Rev. Sci. Instmm. (1994), 65, 533. doi: 10.1063/1.1145242
- Curtis A. and Wilkinson C., Trends Biotechnol. (2001), 19, 97. doi:10.1016/S0167-7799(00)01536-5
- Chen C. S., Mrksich M., Huang S., Whitesides G. M., and Ingber D. E., Science (1997), 276, 1425. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5317.1425
- Lacava Z. G. M., Azevedo R. B., Lacava L. M., Martins E. V., Garcia V. A. P., Rebula C. A., Lemos A. P. C., Sousa M. H., Tourinho F. A., Morais P. C., and Da Silva M. F., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (1999) 194, 90.

doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(98)00583-6

- Alexiou C., Arnold W., Hulin P., Klein R. J., Renz H., Parak F. G., Bergemann C., and Lübbe A. S., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (2001), 225, 187. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(00)01256-7
- 11. Grüttner C., Rudershausen S., and Teller J., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (2001), 225, 1.

doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(00)01220-8

- Grüttner C., Teller J., Schiitt W., Westphal F., Schumichen C., and Pauike B.-R., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, (Plenum: New York, 1997), p. 53.
- Jordan A., Scholz R., Wust P., Schirra H., Schiestel T., Schmidt H., and Felix R., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (1999), 194, 185. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(98)00558-7
- Ewijk G. A. van, Vroege G. J., and Philipse A. P., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (1999) 201, 31.
- doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(99)00080-3

 5
 Grüttner C. and Teller I. J. Magn. Magn.
- Grüttner C. and Teller J., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (1999) 194, 8. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(98)00561-7
- Connolly J., Pierre T. G. St., Rutnakornpituk M., and Riffle J. S., Eur. Cells. Mater. (2002), 3, 106. <u>ISSN 1473-2262.</u> <u>http://www.ecmjournal.org/journal/supplements/vol003supp02/pdf/v 003supp02a35.pdf</u>
- Mornet S., Grasset F., Portier J., and Duguet E., Eur. Cells. Mater. (2002), 3, 110. <u>ISSN 1473-2262.</u> <u>http://www.ecmjournal.org/journal/supplements/vol003supp02/pdf/v 003supp02a36.pdf</u>
 Miller B. H. Läch M. H. Link G. et al. The transmission of the supplementation of the supplementation of the supplementation.
- Müller R. H., Lück M., Harnisch S., and Thode K., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, Plenum: New York, 1997), p.135.
- Kreuter J., Eur. J. Drug Metab. Ph. (1994), 19, 253. <u>doi: 10.1007/BF03188928</u>
- Gref R., Minamitake Y., Peracchia M. T., Trubetskoy V., Torchilin V., and Langer R., Science (1994), 263, 1600. doi: 10.1126/science.8128245
- Wilhelm C., Billotey C., Roger J., Pons J. N., Bacri J. C., and Gazeau F., Biomaterials (2003), 24, 1001.

doi:10.1016/S0142-9612(02)00440-4

- 22. Hilger I., Fruhauf S., Linss W., Hiergeist R., Andrä W., Hergt R., and Kaiser W. A., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (2003), 261, 7. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(01)00258-X
- 23. Brigger I., Dubernet C., and Couvreur P., Adv. Drug Deliver. Rev. (2002), 54, 631.
- doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(02)00044-3 24. Gaur U., Sahoo S. K., De T. K., Ghosh P. C., Maitra A., and Ghosh P. K., Int. J. Pharm. (2000), 202, 1. doi:10.1016/S0378-5173(99)00447-0
- 25. Lacava L. M., Lacava Z. G. M., Da Silva M. F., Silva O., Chaves S. B., Azevedo R. B., Pelegrini F., Gansau C., Buske N., Sabolovic D., and Morais P. C., Biophys. J. (2001), 80, 2483. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(01)76217-0
- 26. Alivisatos A.P., Nat. Biotechnol. (2004), 22 47-52. doi:10.1038/nbt927
- 27. Ferrari M., Nat. Rev. Cancer (2005), 5 161-171. doi:10.1038/nrc1566
- 28. Niemeyer C.M., Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. (2001), 40, 4128-4158. doi: 10.1002/1521-3773(20011119)40:22<4128
- 29. Cao Y.W.C., Jin R.C., Mirkin C.A., Science (2002) 297 1536-1540.
- doi: 10.1126/science.297.5586.1536 30. Gao X.H., Yang L.L., Petros J.A., Marshal F.F., Simons J.W., Nie S.M., Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. (2005), 16 63-72. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2004.11.003
- 31. Michalet X., Pinaud F.F., Bentolila L.A., Tsay J.M., Doose S., Li J.J., Sundaresan G., Wu A.M., Gambhir S.S., Weiss S., Science (2005), 307 538-544. doi: 10.1126/science.1104274
- 32. Nie S.M., Xing Y., Kim G.J., Simons J.W., Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. (2007), 9 257-288. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.9.060906.152025
- 33. Rosi N.L., Mirkin C.A., Nanostructures in Biodiagnostics, Chem. Rev. (2005) 105 1547-1562. doi: 10.1002/chin.200528279
- 34. Yezhelyev M.V., Gao X., Xing Y., Al-Hajj A., Nie S.M., O'Regan R.M., Lancet Oncol. (2006), 7, 657-667. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70793-8
- 35. Gao X.H., Cui Y.Y., Levenson R.M., Chung L.W.K., Nie S.M., Nat. Biotechnol. (2004) 22, 969-976. doi:10.1038/nbt994
- 36. Liu Z., Cai W.B., He L.N., Nakayama N., Chen K., Sun X.M., Chen X.Y., Dai H.J., Nat. Nanotech. (2007) 2 47-52. doi:10.1038/nnano.2006.170
- 37. Weissleder R., Kelly K., Sun E.Y., Shtatland T., Josephson L., Nat. Biotechnol. (2005), 23, 1418-1423.
- doi:10.1038/nbt1159 38. Lee E.S., Na K., Bae Y.H., J. Control. Release (2003), 91, 103-113. doi:10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00239-6
- 39. Hood J.D., Bednarski M., Frausto R., Guccione S., Reisfeld R.A., Xiang R., Cheresh D.A., Science (2002), 296, 2404-2407. doi: 10.1126/science.1070200
- 40. Duncan R., Nat. Rev. Cancer (2006), 6, 688-701. doi:10.1038/nrc1958
- 41. Couvreur P., Vauthier C., Pharm. Res. (2006) 23 1417-1450. doi: 10.1007/s11095-006-0284-8
- 42. Moghimi S.M., Hunter A.C., Murray J.C., Pharmacol. Rev. (2001), 53, 283-318.
 - doi: 0031-6997/01/5302-283-318\$3.00
- 43. Torchilin V.P., Pharm. Res. (2007), 24, 1-16. doi: 10.1007/s11095-006-9132-0
- 44. McCarthy J.R., Kelly K.A., Sun E.Y., Weissleder R., Nanomedicine (2007), 2, 153-167. doi:10.2217/17435889.2.2.153
- 45. Harisinghani M.G., Barentsz J., Hahn P.F., Deserno W.M., Tabatabaei S., Kaa C.H. van de, Rosette J. de la, Weissleder R., N. Engl. J. Med. (2003), 348 2491-2499. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa022749
- 46. Rhyner M.N., Smith A.M., Gao X.H., Mao H., Yang L., Nie S.M., Nanomedicine, (2006), 1, 209-217. doi:10.2217/17435889.1.2.209
- 47. Xing Y., Chaudry Q., Shen C., Kong K.Y., Zhau H.E., Chung L.W., Petros J.A., O'Regan R.M., Yezhelyev M.V., Simons J.W., Wang M.D., Nie S.M., Nat. Protoc. (2007), 2, 1152–1165. doi:10.1038/nprot.2007.107
- 48. Wu X.Y., Liu H.J., Liu J.Q., Haley K.N., Treadway J.A., Larson J.P., Ge N.F., Peale F., Bruchez M.P., Nat. Biotechnol. (2003), 21, 41-46.

doi:10.1038/nbt764

- 49. Kim S., Lim Y.T., Soltesz E.G., De Grand A.M., Lee J., Nakayama A., Parker J.A., Mihaljevic T., Laurence R.G., Dor D.M., Cohn L.H., Bawendi M.G., Frangioni J.V., Nat. Biotechnol. (2004), 22, 93-97. doi:10.1038/nbt920
- 50. Yezhelyev M.V., Al-Hajj A., Morris C., Marcus A.I., Liu T., Lewis M., Cohen C., Zrazhevskiy P., Simons J.W., Rogatko A., Nie S., Gao X., O'Regan R.M., Adv. Mater. (2007) 19, 3146-3151. doi: 10.1002/adma.200701983
- 51. Woodle M.C., Lu P.Y., Materials Today (2005) 8, 34-41. doi:10.1016/S1369-7021(05)71035-X
- 52. Medarova Z., Pham W., Farrar C., Petkova V., Moore A., Nat. Med. (2007) 13, 372-377. doi:10.1038/nm1486
- 53. Morales M.P., Veintemillas-Verdaguer S., Montero M.I., Serna C.J., Roig A., Casas L., Martinez B., Sandiumenge F., Chem. Mater. (1999) 11, 3058-3064. Doi: 10.1021/cm991018f
- 54. Jun Y.W., Seo J.W., Cheon A., Acc. Chem. Res. (2008) 41, 179-189. doi: 10.1021/ar700121f
- 55. Xu C.J., Sun S.H., Polym. Int. (2007) 56, 821-826. doi: 10.1002/pi.2251
- 56. Chouly C., Pouliquen D., Lucet I., Jeune J.J., Jallet P., J. Microencapsul. (1996) 13, 245-255. doi: 10.3109/02652049609026013
- 57. Corot C., Violas X., Robert P., Gagneur G., Port M., Invest. Radiol. (2003) 38, 311-319. http://journals.lww.com/investigativeradiology/Abstract/2003/06000/ Comparison_of_Different_Types_of_Blood_Pool_Agents.2.aspx
- 58. Duguet E., Vasseur S., Mornet S., Devoisselle J.M., Nanomedicine (2006) 1, 157-168. doi:10.2217/17435889.1.2.157
- 59. Edelstein A.S., Cammarata R.C., Institute of Physics Publishing, Bristol. 1996.
- 60. Fleige G., Seeberger F., Laux D., Kresse M., Taupitz M., Pilgrimm H., Zimmer C., Invest. Radiol. (2002) 37, 482-488. http://journals.lww.com/investigativeradiology/Abstract/2002/09000/ In_Vitro_Characterization_of_Two_Different.2.aspx
- 61. Grancharov S.G., Zeng H., Sun S.H., Wang S.X., O'Brien S., Murray C.B., Kirtley J.R., Held G.A., J. Phys. Chem. B (2005), 109 13030-13035. doi: 10.1021/jp051098c
- 62. Park J, Lee E, Hwang NM, Kang MS, Kim SC, et al., Angew Chem Int Ed, 2005, 44(19):2872-2877 doi: 10.1002/anie.200461665
- 63. Ito A., Shinkai M., Honda H., Kobayashi T., J. Biosci. Bioeng. (2005) 100, 1–11. doi:10.1263/jbb.100.1
- 64. Lu A.H., Salabas E.L., Schuth F., Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. (2007) 46, 1222-1244.
- doi: 10.1002/anie.200602866 65. Kang Y.S., Risbud S., Rabolt J.F., Stroeve P., Chem. Mater. (1996) 8, 2209-2211.
- doi: 10.1021/cm960157j 66. Gupta A.K., Gupta M., Biomaterials (2005) 26, 3995-4021. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.10.012
- 67. Sharma P K, Dutta R K, Pandey A C, Layek S and Verma H C, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 2009, 321, 17, 2587. doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2009.03.043
- 68. Sharma P K, Dutta R K, and Pandey A C, J. Magn. Magn. Mater, 2009, 321, 20, 3457.
- doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2009.06.055 69. Sharma P K, Dutta R K, and Pandey A C, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 2009, 321, 4001.
- doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2009.07.066 70. Sharma P K, Dutta R K, and Pandey A C, J. Colloid Interface Sci. (2010), 345(2), 149-153.
- doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2010.01.050 71. Dutta R K, Sharma P K, Bhargava R, Kumar N and Pandey A C, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2010, 114 (16), pp 5594-5599. doi: 10.1021/jp1004488
- 72. Dutta R K, Sharma P K and Pandey A C, J. Nanopart. Res. 2010, 12(4), 1211-1219.
- doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2009.07.066 73. Lacava L. M., Lacava Z. G. M., Azevedo R. B., Chaves S. B., Garcia V. A. P., Silva O., Pelegrini F., Buske N., Gansau C., Da Silva M. F., and Morais P. C., J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 2002, 252, 367.

ADVANCED MATERIALS *Letters*

doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(02)00654-6

- 74. Goetze T., Gansau C., Buske N., Roeder M., Görnert P., and Bahr M., J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 2002, 252, 399. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(02)00624-8
- 75. Hong X., Guo W., Yuan H., Li J., Lui Y., Ma L., Bai Y., and Li T., J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 2004, 269, 95. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(03)00566-3
- 76. Keshari A K, Kumar M, Singh P K, and Pandey A C, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 2008, 8(1):301-8. doi:10.1166/jnn.2007.003
- 77. Tsien, R. Y., *Nat. ReV. Mol. Cell Biol.*, 2003, *4*, SS16. https://mywebspace.wisc.edu/jbpawley/livecell/pdf/PHC16.pdf
- Gordon W. O., Carter J. A., Tissue B. M., J. Lumin., 2004, 108, 339. doi:10.1016/j.jlumin.2004.01.071
- 79. Alivisatos A. P., Gu W., Larabell C., Annu. ReV. Biomed. Eng., 2005, 7, 55.
- DOI: 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.7.060804.100432
- Courty S., Luccardini C., Bellaiche Y., Cappello G., Dahan M., *Nano* Lett., 2006, 6, 1491. doi: 10.1021/nl060921t
- 81. Bremer C., Weissleder R., Acad. Radiol., 2001, 8, 15. doi:10.1016/S1076-6332(03)80739-0
- Gimi B., Pathak A. P., Ackerstaff E., Glunde K., Artemov D., Bhujwalla Z. M., *Proc. IEEE*, 2005, 93, 784. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2005.844266
- Gordon W. O., Carter J. A., Tissue B. M., J. Lumin., 2004, 108, 339. doi:10.1016/j.jlumin.2004.01.071
- Nichkova M., Dosev D., Gee S. J., Hammock B. D., Kennedy I. M., *Anal. Chem.*, 2005, 77, 6864. <u>doi: 10.1021/ac050826p</u>
- 85. Dutta R K, Sharma P K and Pandey A C, Engineering of superparamagnetic eurogadofluoroprobes (EGFP) and their biocompatibility evaluation through platelet aggregation studies, article to be published, 2011
- Fortin M. A., Petoral R. M. P. Jr., Soderlind F., Klasson A., Engstrom M., Veres T., Kall P.O., Uvdal K., Nanotechnology, 2007, 18, 395501. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/18/39/395501
- M. Goldewski M., Gryczynski I., Tomsia K., Goldys E. M., Appl. Phys. Lett., 2006, 88, 011906.
- doi:10.1063/1.2161400
 88. Bridot J. L., Faure A. C., Laurent S., Riviere C., Billotey C., Hiba B., Janier M., Josserand V., Coll J. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2007, 129, 5076.
 doi: 10.1021/ja068356j
- Jia G., Liu K., Zheng Y., Song Y., Yang M. and You H., J. Phys. Chem. C, 2009, 113, 6050. doi: 10.1021/jp9002164
- 90. Lee K. H., Lee B., You J. H. and Byeon S. H., Chem. Commun., 2010, 46, 1461–1463,
- DOI: 10.1039/b922612e.
 91. Parashar V. and Pandey A. C., Anal. Methods, 2010, 2, 1227–1229.
 DOI: 10.1039/c0ay00366b
- Yusa H, Tsuchiya T and Tsuchiya J, Sata N and Ohishi Y, Phys. Rev. B, 2008A, 78, 092107. doi: e092107
- Kikkawa, A. Katsumata, S. Ebisu and S. Nagata, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. (2004) 73, p. 2955.
 doi: 10.1142/USU32.2055
- doi: 10.1143/JPSJ.73.2955
- Ebisu S., Iijima Y., Iwasa T. and Nagata S., J. Phys. Chem. Solids (2004) 65, p. 1113.
 child 1016 incr 2002 12 002
- doi:10.1016/j.jpcs.2003.12.002
 95. Matsuda M., Kikkawa A., Katsumata K., Ebisu S. and Nagata S., J. *Phys. Soc. Jpn.* (2005) 74, p. 1412.
- doi: 10.1143/JPSJ.74.1412
 96. Katsumata K., Kikkawa A., Tanaka Y., Shimomura S., Ebisu S. and Nagata S., *J. Phys. Soc. Jpn.* (2005), 74, p. 1598.
 doi: 10.1143/JPSJ.74.1598
- 97. Ebisu S., Iijima Y., Iwasa T. and Nagata S., J. Phys. Chem. Solids (2004), 65 p. 1113
- doi:10.1016/j.jpcs.2003.12.002
- 98. Sleight A.W. and Prewitt C.T., *Inorg. Chem.* (1968), 7, p. 2282. doi: 10.1021/ic50069a022
- Prewitt C.T. and Sleight A.W., *Inorg. Chem.* (1968), 7, p. 1090. doi: 10.1021/ic50064a009
- Lindsay E. Roy, Timothy Hughbanks Journal of Solid State Chemistry (2007) 180 818–823.

doi:10.1016/j.jssc.2006.11.035

- Zachariasen W.H., Acta Crystallogr. (1949), 2, p. 57. doi:10.1107/S0365110X49000126
- 102. Dutta R K, Sharma P K and Pandey A C, App. Phys. Lett. (2010), 97, 253702. doi:10.1063/1.3531550
- Parashar V., Pandey S. K. and Pandey A. C., Chem. Commun., 2010, 46, 3143–3145. doi: 10.1039/c000553c
- Kim I B, Shin H, Garcia A J, and Bunz U H F, (2007), Bioconjugate Chem., 18 (3), 815. doi: 10.1021/bc0603440
- Kim S H, Jeong J H, Chun K W, and Park T G, Langmuir, (2005), 21 (19), 8852, 2005. doi: 10.1021/la0502084
- Nayak S, Lee H, Chmielewski J, and Lyon L A, J. Am. Chem. Soc., (2004), 126 (33), 10258. doi: 10.1021/ja0474143
- 107. Oyewumi M O. and Mumpe R J, Bioconjugate Chem., (2002), 13
 (6), 1328. doi: 10.1021/bc025560x
- Yang P H, Sun X, Chiu J F, Sun H, and He Q Y, Bioconjugate Chem., (2005), 16(3), 494. doi: 10.1021/bc049775d
- Zhang Na, Chittasupho C, Duangrat C, Siahaan T J and Berkland C, Bioconjugate Chem., (2008), 19, 145. doi: 10.1021/bc700227z
- Stefflova K, Li H, Chen J, and Zheng G, Bioconjugate Chem., (2007), 18 (2), 379. doi: 10.1021/bc0602578
- 111. Nitin N, Javier D J and Kortum R R, Bioconjugate Chem., (2007), 18 (6), 2090.
- <u>doi: 10.1021/bc0701242</u>
 Santra S, Tapec R, Theodoropoulou N, Dobson J, Hebard A, and Tan W, Langmuir, (2001), 17, 2900.
 <u>doi: 10.1021/la0008636</u>
- 113. Sharma P K, Dutta R.K, Kumar M, Singh P K, Pandey A C and Singh V N, IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol., 2011 10(1),. doi: 10.1109/TNANO.2009.2037895
- 114. Sharma P K, Dutta R K, Kumar M, Singh P K and Pandey A C, J. Lumin., (2009), 129, 605. doi:10.1016/j.jlumin.2009.01.004
- 115. Aktaş Y, Yemisci M, Andrieux K, Gürsoy R. N, Alonso M J, Megia E F, Carballal R N, Quiñoá E, Riguera R, Sargon M F., Çelik H. H, Demir A S., Hıncal A. A, Dalkara T, Çapan Y, and Couvreur P, Bioconjugate Chem, (2005), 16 (6), 1503. doi: 10.1021/bc050217o
- 116. Jaffer F A and Weissleder R, Circ. Res., (2004), 94, 433. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000119321.18573.5A
- Schellenberger E A, Reynolds F, Weissleder R, Josephson L, ChemBioChem., (2004), 5, 275. doi: 10.1002/cbic.200300713
- 118. Sudimack J, Lee R J., Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., (2000), 41, 147. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(99)00062-9
- 119. Gabizon, A., Horowitz, A. T., Goren, D., Tzemach, D., Mandelbaum-Shavit, F., Qazen, M. M., and Zalipsky, S., *Bioconjug. Chem.* (1999), 10, 289-298. doi: 10.1021/bc9801124
- 120. Sirotnak F M, Tolner B, Annu. Rev. Nutr., (1999), 19, 91. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.19.1.91
- Stella B, Arpicco S, Peracchia MT, Desmaële D, Hoebeke J, Renoir M, D'Angelo J, Cattel L, Couvreur P, J. Pharm. Sci., (2000), 89, 1452.
 <u>doi: 10.1002/1520-6017(200011)89:11<1452::AID-</u> JPS8>3.0.CO;2-P
- 122. Parker N, Turk M J, Westrick E, Lewis J D., Low P S., Leamon C P., Anal. Biochem, (2005), 338, 284. doi: 10.1016/J.ab.2004.12.026
- Kohler N, Sun C, Wang J, and Zhang M, Langmuir, (2005), 21 (19), 8858.
 doi: 10.1021/la0503451
- 124. Leamon CP, Pastan I, and Low PS, J. Biol. Chem., (1993), 268, 24847.

http://www.jbc.org/content/268/33/24847.full.pdf

125. Shivang R. Dave and Xiaohu Gao, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2009, 1, page 583. doi: 10.1002/wnan.051

- 126. Voltairas P A, Fotiadis D I and Michalis L K, J. Biomech., (2002), 35, 813–21. doi:10.1016/S0021-9290(02)00034-9
- 127. Gilchrist R. K., Medal R., Shorey W. D., Hanselman R. C., Parrott J. C., and Taylor C. B., Ann. Surg. (1957), 146. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1409103/pdf/annsu rg00933-0076.pdf</u>
- 128. Lübbe A. S., Alexiou C., and Bergemann C., J. Surg. Res. (2001), 95, 200.
 - doi:10.1006/jsre.2000.6030
- 129. Lübbe A. S., Bergemann C., Riess H., Schriever F., Reichardt P., Possinger K., Matthias M., Dorken B., Herrmann F., Gurtler R., Hohenberger P., Haas N., Sohr R., Sander B., Lemke A. J., Ohiendorf D., Huhnt W., and Huhn D., Cancer Res. (1996), 56, 4686.
- http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/56/20/4686.full.pdf 130. Lubbe A. S., Bergemann C., Huhnt W., Fricke T., Riess H., Brock
- J. W., and Huhn D., Cancer Res. (1996), 56, 4694. http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/56/20/4694.full.pdf+html
- Lubbe A. S. and Bergemann C., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, eds. U. Häfeli et al. (Plenum: New York, 1997), p. 457.
- 132. Andrä W., Magnetism in Medicine: A Handbook, eds. W. Andrä and H. Nowak (Wiley: New York & Berlin 1998), p. 455.
- Moroz P., Jones S. K., and Gray B. N., Int. J. Hypertherm. (2002), 18, 129.
- doi: 10.1080/02656730110095609
- 134. Mitsumori M., Hiraoka M., Shibata T., Okuno Y., Masaunaga S., Koishi M., Okajima K., Nagata Y., Nishimura Y., Abe M., Ohura K., Hasegawa M., Nageae H., and Ebisawa Y., Int. J. Hypertherm. (1994), 10, 785. doi: 10.3109/02656739409012371
- Grasset F., Mornet S., Demourgues A., Portier J., Bonnet J., Vekris A., and Duguet E., J. Magn. Magn. Mater. (2001), 234, 409. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(01)00386-9
- 136. Giri J., Ray A., Dasgupta S., Datta D., and Bahadur D., Biomed. Mater. Eng. (2003), 13, 387. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14646053</u>
- Pauser S., Reszka R., Wagner S., Wolf K.-J., Buhr H. J., and Berger G., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, eds. U. Häfeli et al. (Plenum: New York, 1997), p. 561.
- Babincova M., Leszczynska D., Sourivong P., Babinec P., and Leszczynski J., Med. Hypotheses (2004), 62, 375. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14975506
- Edelman E. R. and Langer R., Biomaterials (1993), 14, 621. doi:10.1016/0142-9612(93)90182-2
- 140. Kost J. and Langer R., Adv. Drug Deliver. Rev. (2001), 46, 125. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(00)00136-8
- Richert H., Surzhenko O., Wangemann S., Payer P., and Gornert P., Scientific and Clinical Applications of Magnetic Carriers, Lyon, France 2004.
- Tiwari A. et al., Anal. Methods, 2011, 3, 217-226, doi: 10.1039/C0AY00574F.
- 143. Enochs W S, Harsh F, Hochberg F and Weissledher R J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 1999, 9, 228–32.
 <u>doi:</u> 10.1002/(SICI)1522-2586(199902)9:2<228::AID-JMRI12>3.0.CO;2-K
- 144. Varallyay P, Nesbit G, Muldoon L L, Nixon R R, Delashaw J I, Cohen J I, Petrillo A, Rink D and Neuwelt E A, AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol. 2002, 23 510–9. <u>http://www.ajnr.org/cgi/reprint/23/4/510?maxtoshow=&hits=10&R ESULTFORMAT=1&andorexacttitle=and&andorexacttitleabs=and &andorexactfulltext=and&searchid=1&FIRSTINDEX=0&sortspec =relevance&volume=23&firstpage=510&resourcetype=HWCIT</u>
- Babincova M, Altanerova V, Altaner C, Cicmanex P and Babinec P Med. Phys. 2004, 31, 2219–21. doi:10.1118/1.1767101
- 146. Barry S E, Int. J. Hyperthermia, 2008, 24, 451–566. doi: 10.1080/02656730802093679
- 147. Sun C, Lee J S H and Zhang M, Adv. Drug Del. Rev., 2008, 60, 1252–65. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.03.018
- 148. Cerdan S, Lotscher H R, Kunnecke B and Seeling J, Mag. Reson. Med., 1989, 12 151–63. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910120202

- 149. Bulte J W, Hoekstra Y, Kamman R L, Magin R L, Webb A G, Briggs R W, Go K G, Hulstart S and Miltenyi T H, Magn. Reson. Med., 1992, 25 148–57. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910250115
- 150. Suzuki M., Honda H., Kobayashi T., Wakabayashi T., Yoshida J. and Takahashi M., *Brain Tumor Pathol.* (1996), 13, pp. 127–132 <u>http://www.mendeley.com/research/development-targetdirected-magnetic-resonance-contrast-agent-using-monoclonal-antibodyconjugated-magnetic-particles/</u>
- 151. Huh Y M, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2006, 127 12387–91. doi: 10.1021/ja052337c
- Arternov D, Mori N, Okollie B and Bhujwalla A M, Magn. Reson. Med., 2003, 49, 403–8. doi: 10.1002/mrm.10406
- 153. Zhou Y, Drummond D C, Zou H, Hayes M E, Adams G P, Kirpotin D B and Marks J D, J. Mol. Biol., 2007, 371, 934–47. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2007.05.011
- 154. Yang L et al., Small, 2009, 5 (2), 235–43. doi: 10.1002/smll.200800714
- 155. Jun Y W, Huh Y M, Choi J S, Lee J H, Song H T, Kim S, Yoon S, Kim K S, Shin J S, Suh J S and Cheon J, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2005, 127, 5732–3. doi: 10.1021/ja0422155
- 156. Lee J H, Huh Y M, Jun Y, Seo J, Jang J, Song H T, Kim S, Cho E J, Yoon H G, Suh J S and Cheon J, Nature Med., 2007, 13, 95–9. doi:10.1038/nm1467
- Debbage P and Jaschke W, Histochem. Cell Biol., 2008,130, 845– 75.
 - doi: 10.1007/s00418-008-0511-y McCArthy I R and Weissleder R Adv Drug l
- McCArthy J R and Weissleder R, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev., 2008, 60, 1241–51.
 doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.03.014
 - doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.03.014
- 159. C. Sun, O. Veiseh, J. Gunn, C. Fang, S. Hansen, D. Lee, R. Sze, R.G. Ellenbogen, J. Olson, M. Zhang, Small, (2008), 4, 372–379. doi: 10.1002/smll.200700784

ADVANCED MATERIALS Letters

Publish your article in this journal

ADVANCED MATERIALS Letters is an international journal published quarterly. The journal is intended to provide top-quality peer-reviewed research papers in the fascinating field of materials science particularly in the area of structure, synthesis and processing, characterization, advanced-state properties, and applications of materials. All articles are indexed on various databases including <u>DOAJ</u> and are available for download for free. The manuscript management system is completely electronic and has fast and fair peer-review process. The journal includes review articles, research articles, notes, letter to editor and short communications.

Submit your manuscript: http://amlett.com/submitanarticle.php

